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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

 
___________________________________________ 
       ) 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA   ) 
       ) 
  v.     ) 
       ) Criminal No. 16-cr-10124-WGY 
CARLOS A. RAFAEL and    ) 
ANTONIO M. FREITAS,    ) 
   Defendants.   ) 
__________________________________________) 
 

MOTION TO SEVER THE TRIAL OF CARLOS RAFAEL FROM THE TRIAL OF 
ANTONIO FREITAS  

 
 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 14 and Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 

123 (1968) and its progeny, defendant Carlos Rafael (“Mr. Rafael”) respectfully requests that the 

Court order that he be tried separately from his co-defendant Antonio Freitas (“Mr. Freitas”).  As 

set forth below, a joint trial presents a serious risk of compromising Mr. Rafael’s Sixth 

Amendment confrontation rights in light of incriminating statements made to law enforcement 

by Mr. Freitas. Moreover, severance in this case would not be administratively burdensome as 

the defendants are jointly named in only one of twenty-eight counts alleged in the Indictment. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Mr. Rafael is a New Bedford businessman who owns a large commercial fishing 

operation, and Mr. Freitas is a Sheriff’s Deputy employed by Bristol County.  See Indictment 

(dkt # 22) at ¶¶ 1-3.  Counts One through Twenty-Six charge Mr. Rafael individually with 

conspiring to commit and committing substantive Lacey Act offenses in violation of 16 U.S.C. 

§§ 3372(d) and 3373(d) for submitting dealer reports to the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 

Administration that allegedly falsely reported the species of fish caught by his fishing vessels 

between June of 2012 and January of 2016.  See id. at ¶¶ 23-28. Mr. Freitas has not been charged 
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with or named as an unindicted co-conspirator in these offenses, and the indictment does not 

otherwise allege any involvement by Mr. Freitas in any of the events giving rise to the Lacey Act 

charges against Mr. Rafael. See id. at ¶¶ 5-16, 23-28.  

Count Twenty-Seven of the indictment charges Mr. Rafael and Mr. Freitas jointly with a 

single bulk cash smuggling count in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5332(a) that allegedly occurred in 

February 2016.  See id. at 29-30.  Specifically, the indictment alleges that on or around February 

5, 2016, Mr. Freitas received $17,500 from Mr. Rafael, which Mr. Freitas then divided with a 

traveling companion, brought to Portugal, and deposited into a Portuguese account owned by Mr. 

Rafael, all without declaring the currency.  Id.  Count Twenty-Eight charges Mr. Freitas 

individually with structuring the export of those funds to avoid reporting requirements in 

violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5324(c)(3).  See id. at ¶¶ 31-32. 

During the government’s investigation of the bulk cash smuggling and structuring 

charges, Mr. Freitas was interviewed by FBI agents and officers of the Department of Homeland 

Security’s Office of Inspector General, at which time Mr. Freitas made statements implicating 

both himself and Mr. Rafael. Specifically, Mr. Freitas claimed that: (1) Mr. Rafael asked Mr. 

Freitas to bring cash with him to Portugal in February of 2016; (2) Mr. Freitas refused Mr. 

Rafael’s initial amount because it exceeded the $10,000 per person limit; (3) Mr. Freitas 

accepted $17,500 as he and his traveling companion could split the amount and remain under the 

reporting threshold; (4) once in Portugal with the $17,500, Mr. Freitas called Mr. Rafael to 

confirm the account into which the funds were to be deposited; and (5) Mr. Freitas then 

deposited the funds into the account identified by Mr. Rafael. 
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ARGUMENT 

 The Court should grant a severance under Rule 14 of the Federal Rules of Criminal 

Procedure because “there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right 

of one of the defendants….” United States v. Smith, 46 F.3d 1223,1230 (1st Cir. 1995) (quoting 

Zafirov. United States, 560 U.S. 534, 539 (1993)).  Moreover, the risk to Mr. Rafael’s rights is 

unjustifiable in light of the de minimis economies that would be gained from a joint trial in this 

case given that the defendants are jointly named in only one of twenty-eight counts set forth in 

the indictment.  

Mr. Freitas’ out-of-court statements to the government directly implicate Mr. Rafael in 

the charges set forth in Count Twenty-Seven of the Indictment.  In light of those statements, 

which are likely admissible against Mr. Freitas, a joint trial presents a serious risk that Mr. 

Rafael’s confrontation rights will be compromised.  See Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 

126 (1968); Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 208 (1987). 

Severance is the appropriate remedy in these circumstances to protect Mr. Rafael’s 

confrontation rights. See e.g., United States v. Fisher, 3 F.3d 456, 459 (1st Cir. 1993) (co-

defendant in drug conspiracy tried separately “[d]ue to his post-arrest statements and the 

constitutional concerns raised thereby”).  Although redactions are a possible remedy for a Bruton 

issue, the First Circuit has cautioned that the particular facts of a case may render redactions 

ineffectual in protecting against a Confrontation Clause violation. See United States v. Vega 

Molina, 407 F.3d 511, 520-21 (1st Cir. 2005) (text of redacted statement and context it is offered 

may necessarily involve direct inference of guilt); United States v. Martinez, 640 F. App'x 18, 28 

(1st Cir. 2016) (unpublished), cert. denied sub nom. Rosario v. United States, No. 16-5516, 2016 

WL 4260944 (U.S. Oct. 3, 2016) (“defendant’s confrontation right is violated when the court 
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admits a codefendant statement that, in light of the Government’s whole case, compels a 

reasonable person to infer the defendant’s guilt” (citation and internal quotations omitted)). 

One such instance occurs where there are so few defendants that the statement leaves 

little doubt in the listener’s mind about the identity of “another person.” Vega Molina, 407 F.3d 

at 520; Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185, 195 (1998).  That is precisely the case here.  Given that 

there are only two defendants, redacting Mr. Rafael’s name from Mr. Freitas’ statements will 

have the same practical effect on Mr. Rafael’s Sixth Amendment rights as admitting the original 

statement.  See Foxworth v. St. Amand, 570 F.3d 414, 435 (1st Cir. 2009) (Confrontation Clause 

violated where trial evidence permitted jury to use simple deduction to identify “Mr. X” in 

redacted statement as one of three codefendants).   

 In addition to being the more appropriate remedy to guard against a Bruton violation, 

separate trials also serve administrative interests. Generally, the preference for joint trials stems 

from a desire to conserve judicial and prosecutorial resources. United States v. Soto-Beneiquez, 

356 F.3d 1, 29 (1st Cir. 2003).  Where, however, the charged offenses are easily separable into 

distinct groups, separate trials can be more efficient than joint trials. See, e.g., United States v. 

Bellomo, 954 F. Supp. 630, 650-51 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (severing multi-defendant RICO trial into 

two trials, one with those defendants facing RICO charges and the other with those defendants 

facing substantive gambling charges).  Here, the co-defendants have been jointly charged in a 

single smuggling count for one transaction that allegedly occurred in February 2016.  The bulk 

of the charges, however, are against Mr. Rafael individually for conduct that allegedly violated 

the Lacey Act and occurred from 2012 through January 2016.  See Indictment ¶ 12.  Those 

individual charges are factually and temporally separate from the single cash smuggling charge 

that Mr. Rafael faces jointly with Mr. Freitas.  And the only remaining charge in the Indictment 
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is against Mr. Freitas individually and does not name Mr. Rafael.  Trying Mr. Rafael and Mr. 

Freitas separately thus does not present significant concerns for wasted time and resources and 

may in fact streamline proceedings.  

CONCLUSION 

Because Mr. Freitas’ statements present a serious risk that a joint trial will violate Mr. 

Rafael’s Confrontation Clause rights, and because holding separate trials in these circumstances 

will not waste judicial resources and may in fact promote efficiency, Mr. Rafael requests that the 

Court grant this motion and order that he be tried separately from Mr. Freitas. 

Local Rule 7.1(a)(2) Certification 

Undersigned counsel has conferred with Assistant U.S. Attorney Andrew Lelling in a 

good faith effort to resolve or narrow the issues raised by this Motion. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
      /s/ William H. Kettlewell   
      William H. Kettlewell (BBO #270320) 
      Collora LLP 
      100 High Street, 20th Floor 
      Boston, MA  02110 
      (617) 371-1000 
      wkettlewell@collorallp.com 
 

Dated: November 21, 2016 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that this document filed through the ECF system will be sent electronically to the registered 
participants as identified on the Notice of Electronic Filing (NEF) and paper copies will be sent to those indicated as 
non registered participants on November 21, 2016. 
 
 
      /s/ William H. Kettlewell 
      William H. Kettlewell 
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